Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-29-2011

A & B Irrigation v. Spackman Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 38191

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of the Final Order Regarding the Surface Water Coalition Delivery

Call ("Final Order") issued by the Director of the Idaho Department of Water Resources

("IDWR" or "Department") on September 5, 2008.

II. Course of Proceedings

Seven canal companies and irrigation districts¹ filed a water delivery call with IDWR on January 14, 2005. R. Vol. 1 at 1. The call requested administration of hydraulically-connected junior ground water rights in the Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer ("ESPA"). *Id.* In response, the Director issued an Amended Order on May 2, 2005 ("2005 Order"), finding material injury to the senior surface water rights held by AFRD#2 and TFCC. R. Vol. 8 at 1359, 1382-85. Notwithstanding the finding of material injury, the Director allowed out-of-priority pumping to continue through the unlawful approval of "replacement water plans." R. Vol. 9 at 1557.²

Between 2005 and 2007, the Director issued seven supplemental orders.³ Like the 2005 Order, the supplemental orders failed to require curtailment or mitigation during the irrigation

¹ A&B Irrigation District ("A&B"), American Falls Reservoir District #2 ("AFRD#2"), Burley Irrigation District ("BID"), Milner Irrigation District ("Milner"), Minidoka Irrigation District ("MID"), North Side Canal Company ("NSCC"), and Twin Falls Canal Company ("TFCC") (collectively referred to as "Surface Water Coalition" or "Coalition").

² The Director approved these plans without any statutory authority, contrary to the CM Rule 43 mitigation plan process, and in violation of the Coalition's right to due process. The District Court determined the Director erred in approving the "replacement water plans". Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 537-40. No party appealed the District Court's ruling on this issue.

³ See Supp. Order (July 22, 2005), R. Vol. 13 at 2424; Second Supp. Order (December 27, 2005), R. Vol. 16 at 2994; Third Supp. Order (June 29, 2006), R. Vol. 20 at 3735; Fourth Supp. Order (July 17, 2006), R. Vol. 21 at 3944; Fifth Supp. Order (May 23, 2007), R. Vol. 23 at 4286; Sixth Supp. Order and Order Approving IGWA's 2007 Replacement Water Plan (July 11, 2007), R. Vol. 25 at 4714; Seventh Supp. Order (May 23, 2008), Ex. 4600.

season when injury was found. *See infra*, Argument Part I.C. Instead, the Director allowed the juniors' mitigation obligation to "carry forward" to the following irrigation season, and only required the juniors to provide water if the Coalition's storage water accounts "failed to fill." R. Vol. 8 at 1405 ¶¶ 11 & 13. The Director delayed his determination on mitigation obligations — sometimes months after the irrigation season ended. R. Vol. 20 at 3735.

Several parties, including the Coalition and the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation ("Reclamation"), challenged the 2005 Order and requested an administrative hearing.⁴

Simultaneously, litigation over the constitutionality of the Department's Rules for the Conjunctive Management of Surface Water and Ground Water Resources (IDAPA 37.03.11 et seq.) ("CM Rules") proceeded before the Gooding County District Court. This Court upheld the facial constitutionality of the CM Rules in that case. AFRD#2, et al. v. IDWR, et al., 143 Idaho 862 (2007).

Following the *AFRD#2* decision, the parties continued with the administrative proceeding, which culminated in a hearing before the Honorable Gerald F. Schroeder in early 2008. The Hearing Officer issued a recommended order, R. Vol. 37 at 7048, and the Director issued his *Final Order* on September 5, 2008, R. Vol. 39 at 7381. Although termed a "final order," the Director failed to fully decide all of the issues contested at hearing. Instead, he left critical issues open to be decided in a separate final order. *Id.* at 7386. The Director also indicated that an additional administrative hearing on that future order would be required. *Id.*

⁴ R. Vol. 9 at 1623, 1642, 1679, 1691, 1704.

The Surface Water Coalition and Reclamation filed petitions for judicial review with the Gooding County District Court. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 1; 24. The Honorable John M. Melanson issued an *Order on Petition for Judicial Review* on July 24, 2009. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 511. The District Court held, among other things, that: 1) the Director erred in refusing to require mitigation in the season in which the injury occurs, *id.* at 526; 2) the Director exceeded his authority by failing to follow procedural steps for mitigation plans set forth in the CM Rules, *id.* at 537; 3) the Director exceeded his authority by determining the full headgate delivery for TFCC should be reduced to 5/8 miner's inch per acre instead of its decreed 3/4 miner's inch per acre, *id.* at 541; and 4) the Director abused his discretion by issuing two final orders, *id.* at 542. The District Court remanded the case back to IDWR for further proceedings consistent with the court's decision. *Id.* at 543.

IGWA and the City of Pocatello filed petitions for rehearing. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 545, 551. The District Court heard oral argument on the petitions and then stayed a decision pending the Director's issuance of a separate order on remand. Clerk's R. Vol. 4 at 627. Judge Melanson issued his *Amended Order on Petitions for Rehearing; Order Denying Surface Water Coalition's Motion for Clarification*, on September 9, 2010. Clerk's R. Vol. 7 at 1215.

The Surface Water Coalition, IGWA, Pocatello and IDWR each appealed the District Court's decision. *Id.* at 1254, 1259, 1345 & 1354(a). IDWR later withdrew its notice of appeal with permission of this Court. *See* IDWR's *Motion to Withdraw Notice of Appeal* (dated April 14, 2011); *Order Granting Motion to Withdraw Notice of Appeal* (dated May 11, 2011).

III. Statement of Facts

A. Surface Water Coalition

A&B Irrigation District delivers surface water to approximately 17,000 acres (Unit A) in Jerome and Minidoka Counties. A&B holds a later priority natural flow water right (1-14), R. Vol. 8 at 1370, and storage rights in American Falls and Palisades Reservoirs, *id.* at 1373. A&B operates a lift station to pump all of its water from the Snake River. Ex. 8000 at 3-2.

American Falls Reservoir District #2 delivers surface water to approximately 62,000 acres in Jerome, Lincoln, and Gooding Counties. AFRD #2 holds a later priority natural flow water right (1-6), *id.* at 1370, along with a storage right in American Falls Reservoir, *id.* at 1373. AFRD #2 delivers its water from the Snake River through the Milner-Gooding Canal located upstream of Milner Dam. Ex. 8000 at 3-6.

Burley Irrigation District delivers surface water to approximately 48,000 acres in Cassia County. BID holds various natural flow water rights with priorities ranging from 1903 to 1939 along with storage rights in American Falls, Lake Walcott, Palisades, and Jackson Lake Reservoirs. *Id.* at 1370, 1373. BID diverts its water on the south side of Minidoka Dam and uses three separate lift stations to deliver water to three main canals for distribution. Ex. 8000 at 3-8.

Milner Irrigation District delivers surface water to approximately 13,500 acres in Cassia and Twin Falls Counties. Milner holds various natural flow water rights with priorities ranging from 1916 to 1939, along with storage rights in American Falls and Palisades Reservoirs. *Id.* at

1370, 1373. Milner diverts its water near Milner Dam through a lift station to a main canal and a series of smaller laterals. Ex. 8000 at 3-10.

Minidoka Irrigation District delivers surface water to approximately 77,000 acres in Minidoka County. MID holds various natural flow water rights with priorities ranging from 1903 to 1939, *id.* at 1371, along with storage rights in American Falls, Lake Walcott, Palisades and Jackson Lake Reservoirs, *id.* at 1373. MID diverts its water on the north and south sides of Minidoka Dam. Ex. 8000 at 3-12.

North Side Canal Company delivers surface water to approximately 155,000 acres in Jerome, Gooding, and Elmore Counties. NSCC holds various natural flow water rights with priorities ranging from 1900 to 1920, *id.* at 1371, along with storage rights in American Falls, Palisades, and Jackson Lake Reservoirs, *id.* at 1374. NSCC diverts its water on the north side of Milner Dam. Ex. 8000 at 3-13.

Twin Falls Canal Company delivers surface water to approximately 200,000 acres in Twin Falls County. TFCC holds the largest natural flow right (3,000 cfs) with the most senior priority (1900) on the Snake River between American Falls and Milner Dam. *Id.* at 1372. TFCC also holds storage rights in American Falls and Jackson Lake Reservoirs. *Id.* at 1374. TFCC diverts its water on the south side of Milner Dam. Ex. 8000 at 3-15.

B. Storage Water Use / Carryover Storage

Although all Coalition members hold natural flow water rights, each entity also relies upon storage water to some extent for its annual irrigation supply. *Supra*. Some entities rely upon storage more than others due to the junior priority of their natural flow water rights.

For example, AFRD#2, MID, and NSCC typically use more storage than TFCC, which holds the largest, most senior natural flow water right below American Falls (October 11, 1900 priority).

R. Vol. 37 at 7057.

Since the Snake River's natural flow could not support all irrigation projects, the Coalition, other irrigation entities, and Reclamation participated in the development of storage reservoirs in the Upper Snake River Basin to meet irrigation demands as well as protect against future dry years. Clerk's R. Vol. 1 at 44-47; R. Vol. 8 at 1372-74, Vol. 37 at 7104. Reclamation reports on the planning and operation of Palisades Reservoir detail the history of droughts in the early twentieth century and the need for additional water storage. Exs. 7000; 7005 at 9-14; 7008 at 15 ("the primary objective of the project is to provide hold-over storage during years of average or above-average precipitation for release in ensuing dry years"). Past Water District 01 watermasters also described the history of storage development in the Upper Snake and the increased need for additional storage water over time. Ex. 8000, Apps. M, N. Finally, the Hearing Officer aptly summed up the reason behind storage development:

However, the element of storage as insurance against severely dry weather conditions remains a legitimate objective. SWC members have invested in major facilities to deliver water to irrigators based on an expectation that the storage system would achieve its purpose of providing water when needed when weather conditions are unkind.

R. Vol. 37 at 7110.

The Coalition's storage water rights were acquired with the ability to use "carryover storage" in subsequent irrigation seasons to protect against future dry years. In some seasons, the carryover storage supply can be the difference between a successful irrigation season and a failure – it is the "hinge between one year and the next year." Tr. Vol. 8 at p. 1608, lns. 7-14. For NSCC, carryover storage is the lifeblood of its project "because it does not have senior natural flow rights to satisfy early season irrigation demand." R. Vol. 33 at 6307. For BID, carryover storage is "a vital part to an adequate water supply" that provides the district with "sure knowledge" that its water users will have "that much water ... to use in the future year." R. Vol. 34 at 6388; *see also*, R. Vol. 32 at 6138-39 (testimony of Lynn Harmon, AFRD#2 manager). For MID, carryover storage is a "critical" factor in its irrigation planning process. R. Vol. 32 at 6129.

Importantly, the amount of carryover storage needed in any particular season is dictated by "winter and spring weather." R. Vol. 33 at 6306. For example, while wet conditions in 2006 allowed NSCC to carry over 350,000 acre-feet into the 2007 irrigation season, the dry conditions in 2007 forced NSCC to use all of that storage carried over from the previous year. 6 *Id.* at 6306-07. Given the uncertainty of water supplies from one season to the next, the Coalition members

⁵ This Court defined carryover as "the unused water in a reservoir at the end of the irrigation year which is retained or stored for future use in years of drought or low-water." *AFRD#2*, 143 Idaho at 878. The CM Rules recognize the right to carryover storage. CM Rule 42.01.g ("the holder of a surface water storage right shall be entitled to maintain a reasonable amount of carry-over storage to assure water supplies for future dry years"); *see also AFRD#2*, 143 Idaho at 880 ("This Court upholds the reasonable carryover provisions in the CM Rules").

⁶ Even then, NSCC was still <u>forced to cut</u> its deliveries down to 1/2 inch per share in order to make it through the 2007 irrigation season with water to deliver to its shareholders. R. Vol. 33 at 6306-07.

seek to maximize their carryover storage to guard against future dry years. See CM Rule 42.01.g (storage right holder entitled "to maintain a reasonable amount of carry-over storage to assure water supplies for future dry years.") (emphasis added).

C. The Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer & Snake River Reach Gains

Ground water in the ESPA is hydraulically connected to the Snake River and tributary surface water sources at various places and to varying degrees. R. Vol. 8 at 1363; *Clear Springs Foods, Inc. v. Spackman*, -- Idaho --, 252 P.3d 71, 75 (2011). One of the locations where there is a direct hydraulic connection is in the American Falls reach (i.e. Near Blackfoot to Milner). R. Vol. 8 at 1363. The Coalition relies upon these reach gains to fill both natural flow and storage water rights. R. Vol. 37 at 7057, 7076.

Reach gains in the Near Blackfoot to Milner reach are declining. R. Vol. 8 at 1375, ¶ 79; Vol. 37 at 7057 ("There has been a declining trend in reach gains for the irrigation season"). The declining trend is most pronounced during the peak of the irrigation season (i.e. July and August), the time when water is needed the most. Ex. 8000 at 7-18. The reach gain declines correlate with the declines in TFCC's natural flow diversions, as well as with declines observed in ESPA ground water levels. Id. at 7-19 to 7-20, Ex. 8000 at 7-79, 7-80.

⁷ Exercising the right to carryover storage should not be viewed as an attempt to "hoard" water. Coalition members are good stewards of their water supplies and there has never been a claim in these proceedings that the Coalition members are "wasting" water. See R. Vol. 37 at 7101 (Hearing Officer finding the Coalition's diversions and facilities to be reasonable). As Ted Diehl, NSCC manager testified, NSCC tries to be conservative with its carryover, recognizing that "the more carryover the storage holders have the better for all Water District 1 water users since it helps all storage in the system." R. Vol. 33 at 6307. At times, this requires that NSCC "self-mitigate by cutting deliveries ... to provide carryover water for the next year." Id.

⁸ ESPA ground water levels have declined between five and 60 feet throughout the aquifer. R. Vol. 37 at 7053.

Ground water pumping impacts Snake River reach gains reducing the water available to the Coalition's senior surface water rights. R. Vol. 37 at 7057, 7076 ("Ground water pumping has hindered SWC members in the use of their water rights by diverting water that would otherwise go to fulfill natural flow or storage rights."). Given the hydraulic connection between the aquifer and the river, conjunctive administration is required.

D. Reduced Water Supplies & Conjunctive Administration

The Hearing Officer summed up the status of the Coalition's water supplies and the need for conjunctive administration in his recommended order:

Consumptive use from ground water pumping has resulted in a net reduction in aquifer recharge from approximately 1.6 to 3.0 million acre feet per year, averaging in the area of 2 to 2.2 million acre feet per year. Large scale ground water pumping has contributed to a decline in ground water levels ranging between five and 60 feet throughout the ESPA.

. . .

Ground water pumping increased, incidental recharge diminished, and additional water rights were licensed. No doubt many people understood the connection between the water on the surface in the Snake River and its tributaries and the water below ground in the aquifer. Nonetheless, for a significant period of time the connection was ignored as the administration of surface water and ground water progressed independent of one another. Ultimately the connection was acknowledged and the need for conjunctive administration became apparent.

• •

The SWC members rely upon Snake River reach gains in the Near Blackfoot to Milner reach of the Snake River. There has been a declining trend in reach gains for the irrigation season.

٠..

The Water Districts were created to provide for the administration of water rights to protect prior surface and ground water rights.

. . .

The Surface Water Coalition made the showing that its members had licensed or decreed water rights and that material injury was occurring. There was evidence submitted indicating that ground water reduces reach gains upon which SWC members are dependent and that there have been crop losses resulting from water shortages.

٠..

Ground water pumping has hindered SWC members in the use of their water rights by diverting water that would otherwise go to fulfill natural flow or storage rights.

R. Vol. 37 at 7052-53, 7054, 7057, 7064, 7073 & 7076.

E. Director's Response to SWC Delivery Call

In 2005, after suffering the effects of reduced reach gains, years of drought and the American Falls Reservoir failing to fill, the Coalition requested that the Director administer junior priority ground water rights in the ESPA. R. Vol. 1 at 1.

The Director responded with the 2005 Order and a series of supplemental orders. Rather than recognize the decreed quantities of the Coalition's water rights, the Director established a baseline for each entity, termed the "minimum full supply", as the starting point for administration. R. Vol. 8 at 1382-85. The "minimum full supply" was based upon actual diversions from a single year (1995). R. Vol. 8 at 1383, ¶ 115. The Director then averaged actual carryover storage from two years (2002 and 2004) to set each entity's "reasonable carryover" amount. *Id.* at 1384.

⁹ Prior to 2005, water users had reached an interim agreement to address the declining water supplies and the juniors' mitigation obligations in lieu of conjunctive administration. That agreement expired in 2004. R. Vol. 1 at 1 ("the Interim Stipulated Agreement expired two weeks ago"); Vol. 1 at 934-35; see e.g., Clear Lakes Trout Co. v. Clear Springs Foods, Inc., 141 Idaho 117 (2005).

The Hearing Officer recognized that the "minimum full supply" concept was flawed because it "does not acknowledge the burdens anticipated by the Supreme Court in *AFRD* #2 which was decided after the May 2, 2005, Order." R. Vol. 37 at 7074. Further,

Use of the minimum full supply analysis starts at a different point from recognizing the right of a senior right holder to receive the full amount of the licensed or decreed right, attempting to make an advance judgment of need. Inherent in the application of the minimum full supply is the assumption that, if it accurately defines need, use of water above that amount would not be applied to a beneficial use and would constitute waste. This strains against the assumption that the senior users are entitled to the full extent of their rights licensed or decreed rights which at some point has been determined to be an amount they could beneficially use.

R. Vol. 37 at 7091 (emphasis added).

Although the Hearing Officer acknowledged the problem with the Director's analysis he still accepted it in his recommendation, provided the quantity would be "adjusted" to reflect actual conditions. *Id.* at 7093. The Hearing Officer's recommended qualification does not cure the fundamental legal errors with the Director's concept.

The Director implemented his "minimum full supply" approach from 2005 to 2007. The "process" produced no mitigation water for the Coalition during the irrigation season *even* though the Director found material injury. See infra, Argument Part I.C. Instead, junior ground water users continued to pump their full rights without providing any mitigation at the time injury occurred. The Director's administration failed to provide any water "at the time and place required by the senior-priority water right, sufficient to offset the depletive effect of ground water withdrawal on the water available in the surface [] water source." CM Rule 43.02.b.

In addition, the Director refused to adjust the baseline to match changed conditions, such as in 2007, a particularly hot and dry irrigation season:

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