Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-21-2011

A & B Irrigation v. Spackman Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38191

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

The third prong asks for the Court to determine that the language at issue does not treat the precise issue. *Pearl* at 113, 44 P.3d at 1168. The CM Rules require the Director to analyze material injury and lists eight non-exclusive factors that the Director may consider. CM Rule 42.

The CM Rules do not, however, set forth a method to determine material injury; therefore, Pearl's third prong is met.

Finally, the fourth prong asks whether any of the rationales underlying the rule of deference are present. *Pearl* at 113, 44 P.3d at 1168. The rationales to be considered include:

(1) the rationale requiring that a practical interpretation of the statute exists, (2) the rationale requiring the presumption of legislative acquiescence, (3) the rationale requiring agency expertise, (4) the rationale of repose, and (5) the rationale requiring contemporaneous agency interpretation.

. . . .

If one or more of the rationales underlying the rule are present, and no "cogent reason" exists for denying the agency some deference, the court should afford "considerable weight" to the agency's statutory interpretation.

Canty v. Idaho State Tax Comm'n, 138 Idaho 178, 184, 59 P.3d 983, 989 (2002).

Here, rationales one, two, three, and five are met: (1) the Director's interpretation is practical because it focuses on beneficial use; (2) the legislature has not acted to alter or amend any portion of the CM Rules since their adoption, and has not acted to alter or amend the CM Rules since the SWC filed its delivery call in 2005; (3) as a licensed engineer, the Director is steeped with expertise in his ability to administer the State's water resources; and (5) the decision to adopt a baseline was contemporaneous with the Recommended and Final orders. Therefore, the Court "should afford considerable weight" to the Director's statutory interpretation of the CM Rules and affirm the use of a baseline.

4. The District Court's Decision is Internally Consistent

In its Opening Brief, the SWC argues that the district court's decision to affirm the use of a baseline should be reversed because it is inconsistent with the court's "later holding that 'in order to give proper presumptive weight to a decree, any finding by the Director in the context of

a delivery call proceeding that the quantity decreed exceeds the amount being put to beneficial use by the senior must be supported by clear and convincing evidence." *SWC Opening Brief* at 30.

The only way a conflict can exist with the district court's holding is if the SWC's position on appeal is that the Director: (1) must administer to its decreed diversion rates; and (2) the clear and convincing evidentiary standard is an impenetrable shield to a delivery call. Again, strict priority administration to decreed diversion rates is not the law in Idaho.²⁴ *American Falls* 870, 154 P.3d at 441. Moreover, the clear and convincing standard is not insurmountable, as findings must be "highly probable or reasonably certain." *State v. Kimball*, 145 Idaho 542, 546, 181 P.3d 468, 472 (2008). Therefore, the SWC's position has no basis in law.

5. This Court's Decision In American Falls Precludes The SWC's Argument Regarding Administration Of Its "Decreed Diversion Rates"

The SWC's argument on appeal that the Director must administer junior ground water users in order to satisfy its "decreed diversion rates," SWC Opening Brief at 20 & 22, was rejected by the district court: "Simply put . . . a finding of material injury requires more than shortfalls to the decreed or licensed quantity of the senior right." Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 536

²⁴ The district considered and reconciled this issue in its Order on Judicial Review: "On first impression it would appear that the use of such a baseline constitutes a re-adjudication of a decreed or licensed water right. As stated by the Hearing Officer, '[t]he logic of the SWC in objecting to the Director's use of a minimum full supply is difficult to avoid.' R. Vol. 37 at 7090. However, on closer examination the use of a baseline is a necessary result of the Director implementing the conditions imposed by the CMR with respect to regulating junior rights" Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 535-536.

The hearing officer expressed a similar opinion in his Recommended Order: "The Director is not limited to counting the number of acre-feet in a storage account and the number of cubic feet per second in the license or decree and comparing the priority date to other priority dates and then ordering curtailment to achieve whatever result that action will obtain regardless of actual need for the water and the consequences to the State, its communities and citizens. Application of the water to a beneficial use must be present, not simply a desire to use the maximum right in the license or decree because that simplifies management of the water right." R. Vol. 37 at 7086 (emphasis added).

(emphasis added). The district court's decision is in accord with *American Falls* and should be affirmed.

In American Falls, blind, priority administration of senior natural flow and storage water rights in conjunctive administration was struck down. There, the Court first disposed of the surface water users' argument that priority alone governs in conjunctive administration: "The district court rejected American Falls' position at summary judgment that water rights in Idaho should be administered strictly on a priority in time basis." American Falls at 870, 154 P.3d at 441 (emphasis added). "[N]o appeal was taken" from this issue. *Id*.

Next, the Court turned to the surface water users' argument that "the Director is required to deliver the <u>full quantity</u> of decreed senior water rights according to their priority" *Id.* at 876, 154 P.3d at 447 (emphasis in original) (internal quotation removed). That argument, too, was rejected: "If this Court were to rule that the Director lacks the power in a delivery call to evaluate whether the senior is putting the water to beneficial use, <u>we would be ignoring the constitutional requirement that priority over water be extended only to those using the water." *Id.* at 877, 154 P.3d at 448 (emphasis added).</u>

Finally, the Court reviewed the surface water users' argument that they were entitled to full reservoirs: "At oral argument, one of the irrigation attorneys candidly admitted that their position was that they should be permitted to fill their entire storage water right, regardless of whether there was any indication that it was necessary to fulfill current or future needs and even though the irrigation districts routinely sell or lease the water for uses unrelated to the original rights." *Id.* at 880, 154 P.3d at 451 (emphasis added). According to the Court, "This is simply not the law of Idaho." *Id.* "Neither the Idaho Constitution, nor statutes, permit irrigation

Other than Milner and NSCC, all other members of the SWC were party to the litigation. American Falls at 862, 154 P.3d at 433.

putting it to some beneficial use." *Id.* (emphasis added). See also Clear Springs at ____, 252

P.3d at 90 ("An appropriator is not entitled to command the entirety of large volumes of water in a surface or ground water source to support his appropriation contrary to the public policy of reasonable use of water . . . ").

Based on American Falls, the SWC is prohibited from arguing that priority and decreed diversion rates alone govern the Director's determination of material injury in conjunctive administration. "Somewhere between the absolute right to use a decreed water right and an obligation not to waste it and to protect the public's interest in this valuable commodity, lies an area for the exercise of discretion by the Director." American Falls at 880, 154 P.3d at 451.

6. The District Court's Ordered Remand Was Proper

Lastly, the SWC argues that this proceeding should be remanded because the district court "erred by failing to properly require the Director to issue a single final order in this matter."
SWC Opening Brief at 32. The SWC misinterprets the record and its argument should be rejected on appeal.

In this case, the district court held that Director Tuthill erred by not incorporating his material injury analysis in the Final Order that was subject to the court's review. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 542. Because of the error, and consistent with Idaho Code § 67-5279(2), the district court "remanded" the proceeding to the Director "for further proceedings consistent with this decision." *Id.* at 543. Pursuant to statute, this was the only relief that could be given by the district court. *Idaho Power Co. v. Idaho Dept. of Water Resources*, 151 Idaho 266, _____, 255 P.3d 1152, 1162 (2011).

Prior to staying the proceedings to allow the Director time to issue his material injury

order, the district court specifically asked the parties if there were any objections to the process. Clerk's R. Vol. 4 at 629. While the parties wanted to ensure that the Director's order would be based on the underlying record, no objections were raised to the process. *Id.* at 631, 637, 643. There is no basis now for complaint.

In that same vein, and upon issuance of the Methodology Order, petitions for judicial review were filed by the parties. IGWA and Pocatello sought to consolidate the Methodology Order proceedings before Judge Melanson in CV-2008-551 (the underlying proceeding on appeal to this Court).²⁷ "The Honorable John M. Melanson has handled the 551 Case for over two years, and continues to preside over the case after being appointed to the Court of Appeals. He is most familiar with the large agency record . . . and with the issues raised by the parties." *Addendum* 4 at 6. The SWC opposed consolidation with Judge Melanson and instead sought review before Judge Wildman, as presiding judge of the SRBA.²⁸ "All appeals from any decision of the Department must be assigned to the SRBA District Court." *Addendum* 5 at 5 (emphasis in original).

On July 29, 2010, Judge Wildman, as presiding judge of the SRBA, agreed with the SWC that the Methodology Order was properly before his court and should not be consolidated with Judge Melanson. *Addendum* 1. On September 9, 2010, after Judge Wildman entered his July 29, 2010 order, Judge Melanson, then with the Idaho Court of Appeals, entered his Amended Order on Rehearing, which allowed appeal of CV-2008-551 to be taken. Clerk's R. Vol. 7 at 1240. Because Judge Wildman granted the exact relief requested by the SWC, there is no basis now for complaint.

²⁷ Attached hereto as Addendum 4 is a copy of IGWA and Pocatello's Motion for Consolidation.

²⁸ Attached hereto as Addendum 5 is a copy of the SWC's Joint Response to IGWA and Pocatello's Motion for Stay and Consolidation and Motion to Renumber Appeals and to File Appeals in Gooding County Case No. CV-2008-00551.

The SWC also argues there are multiple, final orders "to govern conjunctive administration" SWC Opening Brief at 32 (emphasis added). This is incorrect. The final order that governs conjunctive administration is the Methodology Order, which is on judicial review before Judge Wildman. The minimum full supply analysis is moot.

Because the SWC cannot show that the Director erred in a manner specified in Idaho Code § 67-5279(3), and that its substantial rights have been prejudiced, Idaho Code § 67-5279(4), the SWC's argument must fail.

7. The Director's Prior Use Of Replacement Water Plans Are Not At Issue In This Appeal

In its Opening Brief, the SWC points to flaws with former Director Dreher and Tuthill's use of replacement water plans, describing specific problems that occurred with implementation of the replacement plans in 2005 and 2007. SWC Opening Brief at 25-28. On judicial review, the district court reversed the Director's use of replacement water plans. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 537. The district court further stated there was "no practical remedy to cure that error at this point in the proceedings." Clerk's R. Vol. 7 at 1226, 1251. No party to this appeal has challenged the district court's decision; therefore, the issue is not before the Court on appeal. 29

Junior ground water users subsequently filed two CM Rule 43 mitigation plans to mitigate for material injury. Memorandum Decision and Order on Petition for Judicial Review, Case No. CV-2010-3822 (Fifth Jud. Dist., April 22, 2011); Memorandum Decision and Order on Petition for Judicial Review, Case No. CV-2010-3075 (Fifth Jud. Dist., Jan. 25, 2011). The plans were subject to administrative hearings, which resulted in Director Spackman issuing two final orders. Id. The SWC filed petitions for judicial review with regard to each final order with Judge Wildman. Id. The final orders were affirmed by the district court, with no appeal taken. Any issue with regard to implementation of the CM Rule 43 mitigation plans will be subject to review.

VI. RESPONSE TO ISSUES RAISED BY IGWA AND POCATELLO

1. Whether Twin Falls Canal Company's Headgate Delivery Is 5/8 Or 3/4 Of A Miner's Inch Is Not At Issue And/Or Is Not Ripe For Review

On appeal, IGWA argues: "In applying the CM Rules in this case, the Director determined that Twin Falls Canal Company ("TFCC") could meet its irrigation needs with 5/8 inch of water per acre. The district court reversed that decision on the basis that the Director must use a heightened 'clear and convincing evidence' standard of proof This Court should reverse the district court decision" IGWA Opening Brief at 18. IGWA misinterprets the district court's decision; thus, there is no basis for reversal.

The Final Order established TFCC's full headgate delivery as 5/8 of a miner's inch. R. Vol. 37 at 7382. On judicial review, the district court reversed this conclusion because the Director had recommended 3/4 of a miner's inch in the SRBA.³⁰ Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 541-542. Because the Director did not include his material injury analysis in the Final Order, the district court remanded the proceeding to cure that error. *Id.* at 542. On remand, the Director issued his Methodology Order, based on a 3/4 of a miner's inch headgate delivery for TFCC. Clerk's R. Vol. 7 at 1230. In its Amended Order on Remand, the district court held as follows: "While the Court has ruled that the Director abused his discretion and exceeded his authority by . . . failing to apply the correct presumptions and burden of proof in making the determination under the CMR that TFCC was entitled to less than the quantity recommended . . . the Director has, upon remand, calculated 3/4 inch per acre as TFCC's full headgate delivery." *Id.* at 1251.

³⁰ The Director's recommendations in the SRBA for TFCC do not contain a condition or remark on their face specifying a duty of water. *See* Ex. 4001A at 5, 13, and 54. The duty of water was established in the record. Ex. 3009 at 19-20; Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 541-542.

Because the Director is using 3/4 of a miner's inch, there is no controversy to resolve. Pocatello correctly acknowledges this fact in its Opening Brief: "IDWR's order on remand evaluated TFCC's claims of injuries by reference to the 3/4 inch standard, an action which arguably neutralizes the dispute over the evidentiary standard." *Pocatello Opening Brief* at 2, fn. 1.

If, however, IGWA is asking this Court to establish, in this proceeding, that TFCC's full headgate delivery is 5/8 of a miner's inch, the issue should be dismissed because it is not ripe for review. "The traditional ripeness doctrine requires a petitioner or plaintiff to prove 1) that the case presents definite and concrete issues, 2) that a real and substantial controversy exists, and 3) that there is a present need for adjudication." *Noh v. Cenarrusa*, 137 Idaho 798, 801, 53 P.3d 1217, 1220 (2002).

As stated by the district court, the Director made a recommendation in the SRBA that TFCC's full headgate delivery is 3/4 of a miner's inch. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 541. Pursuant to the SRBA district court's orders granting the state of Idaho's motions for interim administration, the watermaster is delivering water to TFCC in accordance with the Director's recommendation. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 522-523, 541; *see also* Idaho Code § 42-1417. The Director's recommendation is still at-issue in the SRBA. Clerk's R. Vol. 3 at 541-542. The Director has not amended his recommendation.

In accordance with *Noh*, there is not "a present need for adjudication" because the SRBA district court has not issued a final decision on TFCC's water rights. The SRBA district court is the only court with jurisdiction in the state of Idaho to establish the elements of a water right. *Walker v. Big Lost Irrigation District*, 124 Idaho 78, 81, 856 P.2d 868, 871 (1993). Once a final decision is entered by the SRBA district court concerning TFCC's water rights, parties to that

proceeding will be able to file an appeal with this Court. Idaho Appellate Rule 11. Until a final decision is entered by the SRBA district court, the issue of TFCC's full headgate delivery is not ripe for review. Consequently, the Court should decline to address IGWA's argument on appeal.

2. The Director's Evidentiary Decisions Should be Supported by Clear and Convincing Evidence

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